IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

**SUPREME COURT NO. 20-1467
Marshall County No. LACI009957**

DAVID ALAN FEEBACK,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

vs.

SWIFT PORK COMPANY, TROY MULGREW and TODD CARL,

Defendants-Appellees.

**APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
IN AND FOR MARSHALL COUNTY
THE HONORABLE BETHANY CURRIE, JUDGE**

**APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF
AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT**

Bruce H. Stoltze, Jr.
Stoltze & Stoltze, PLC
300 Walnut Street, Suite 260
Des Moines, IA 50309
Tel: (515) 244-1473
Fax: (515) 244-3930
bj.stoltze@stoltzelaw.com
**ATTORNEY FOR
PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT**

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

ISSUE I: THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON COUNT I—AGE DISCRIMINATION BY APPLYING THE INCORRECT CAUSATION STANDARD. EVEN IF THE DISTRICT COURT HAD APPLIED THE PROPER CAUSATION STANDARD, IT NONETHLESS ERRED BY TAKING THE PLACE OF A FINDER OF FACT AND IMPROPERLY DISCOUNTING PLAINTIFF’S EVIDENCE OF PRETEXT

Authorities

Albaugh v. The Reserve, 930 N.W.2d 676 (Iowa 2019)

Banwart v. 50th St. Sports, LLC, 910 N.W.2d 540 (Iowa 2018)

Bagelman v. First Nat’l Bank, 823 N.W.2d 18 (Iowa 2012)

Bass v. J.C. Penney Co., 880 N.W.2d 751 (Iowa 2016)

Bauer v. Stern Fin. Co., 169 N.W.2d 850 (Iowa 1969)

Behr v. Meredith Corp., 414 N.W.2d 339 (Iowa 1987) (en banc)

Betz v. Chertoff, 578 F.3d 929 (8th Cir. 2009)

Bitner v. Ottumwa Cmty. Sch. Dist., 549 N.W.2d 295 (Iowa 1996)

Britton v. U.S.S. Great Lakes Fleet, Inc., 302 F.3d 812 (8th Cir. 2002)

Casey’s Gen. Stores, Inc. v. Blackford, 661 N.W.2d 515 (Iowa 2003)

Castro v. State, 795 N.W.2d 789 (Iowa 2011)

City of West Branch v. Miller, 546 N.W.2d 598 (Iowa 1996)

Clinkscales v. Nelson Sec., Inc., 697 N.W.2d 836 (Iowa 2005)

Crippen v. City of Cedar Rapids, 618 N.W.2d 562 (Iowa 2000)

Durukan Am., LLC v. Rain Trading, Inc., 787 F.3d 1161 (7th Cir. 2015)

Eaton v. Downey, 118 N.W.2d 583, 586 (Iowa 1962)

Estate of Beck v. Engene, 557 N.W.2d 270, 271 (Iowa 1996)

Estate of Hadedorn ex rel. Hadedorn v. Peterson, 690 N.W.2d 84 (Iowa 2004)

Farmland Foods, Inc. v. Dubuque Human Rights Comm'n, 672 N.W.2d 733 (Iowa 2003)

Field v. Palmer, 592 N.W.2d 347 (Iowa 1999)

Fischer v. UNIPAC Serv. Corp., 519 N.W.2d 793 (Iowa 1994)

Floyd v. Mo. Dep't of Soc. Servs., Div. of Family Servs., 188 F.3d 932 (8th Cir. 1999)

Frevert v. Ford Motor Co., 614 F.3d 466 (8th Cir. 2010)

Frontier Leasing Corp. v. Links Eng'g, LLC, 781 N.W. 772 (Iowa 2010)

Griffith v. City of Des Moines, 387 F.3d 733 (8th Cir. 2004)

Hagenow v. American Family Mut. Ins. Co., 846 N.W.2d 373 (Iowa 2014)

Haggenmiller v. ABM Parking Servs., Inc., 837 F.3d 879 (8th Cir. 2016)

Hall v. Barrett, 412 N.W.2d 648 (Iowa Ct. App. 1987)

Hawkins v. Grinnell Reg'l Med. Ctr., 929 N.W.2d 261 (Iowa 2019)

Hedlund v. State, 930 N.W.2d 707 (Iowa 2019), as amended (Sept. 10, 2019)

Hike v. Hall, 427 N.W.2d 158 (Iowa 1988)

Hoefer v. Wis. Educ. Ass'n Tr., 470 N.W.2d 336 (Iowa 1991)

Homan v. Branstad, 887 N.W.2d 153 (Iowa 2016)

Iowa Code § 216.6(1)(1)

Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.981(3)

Jahnke v. Deere & Co., 912 N.W.2d 136 (Iowa 2018)

Junkins v. Branstad, 421 N.W.2d 130 (Iowa 1988) (en banc)

Kapadia v. Preferred Risk Mut. Ins., 418 N.W.2d 848 (Iowa 1988)

Neoco, Inc. v. Christenson, 312 N.W.2d 559 (Iowa 1981)

Linn v. State, 929 N.W.2d 717, 730 (Iowa 2019)

Loeb v. Best Buy Co., 537 F.3d 867 (8th Cir. 2008)

McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792 (1973)

Orcutt v. Hanson, 163 N.W.2d 914 (Iowa 1969)

Parish v. Jumpking, Inc., 719 N.W.2d 540 (Iowa 2006)

Pitts v. Farm Bureau Life Ins. Co., 818 N.W.2d 91 (Iowa 2012)

Reeves v. Sanderson Plumbing Prods., Inc., 530 U.S. 133 (2000)

Schaefer v. Cerro Gordo Cty. Abstract Co., 525 N.W.2d 844 (Iowa 1994)

Sievers v. Iowa Mut. Ins. Co., 581 N.W.2d 633 (Iowa 1998)

Smidt v. Porter, 695 N.W.2d 9 (Iowa 2005)

St. Mary's Honor Ctr. v. Hicks, 509 U.S. 502 (1993)

State v. Ashburn, 534 N.W.2d 106 (Iowa 1995)

State v. Dullard, 668 N.W.2d 585 (Iowa 2003)

Stevens v. Iowa Newspapers, Inc., 728 N.W.2d 823 (Iowa 2007)

Stewart v. Rise, Inc., 791 F.3d 849 (8th Cir. 2015)

Taft v. Iowa Dist. Court ex rel. Linn Cty., 828 N.W.2d 309 (Iowa 2013)

Top of Iowa Co-op v. Sime Farms, Inc., 608 N.W.2d 454 (Iowa 2000)

2 John W. Strong, et al., McCormick on Evidence (5th ed. 1999)

**ISSUE II: THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING
SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON COUNT II—
HARASSMENT BY FAILING TO CONSIDER EVIDENCE
DEMONSTRATING THE HARASSMENT OF
PLAINTIFF WAS BASED ON AGE**

Authorities

Bitner v. Ottumwa Cmty. Sch. Dist., 549 N.W.2d 295 (Iowa 1996)

Burlington Indus., Inc. v. Ellerth, 524 U.S. 742 (1998)

Clinkscales v. Nelson Sec., Inc., 697 N.W.2d 836 (Iowa 2005)

Faragher v. City of Boca Raton, 524 U.S. 775 (1998)

Farmland Foods, Inc. v. Dubuque Human Rights Comm'n, 672 N.W.2d 733
(Iowa 2003)

Frevert v. Ford Motor Co., 614 F.3d 466 (8th Cir. 2010)

Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.981(3)

Linn v. State, 929 N.W.2d 717, 730 (Iowa 2019)

Stewart v. Rise, Inc., 791 F.3d 849 (8th Cir. 2015)

ISSUE III: THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON COUNT II—HARASSMENT BY IMPROPERLY WEIGHING EVIDENCE MEANT FOR THE JURY AND MISAPPLYING IOWA LAW AS TO THE SEVERITY AND PERVASIVENESS OF THE HARASSMENT BASED ON PLAINTIFF’S AGE

Authorities

Alvarez v. Des Moines Bolt Supply, Inc., 626 F.3d 410 (8th Cir. 2010)

Delph v. Dr. Pepper Bottling Co. of Paragould, Inc., 130 F.3d 349 (8th Cir. 1997)

Farmland Foods, Inc. v. Dubuque Human Rights Comm’n, 672 N.W.2d 733 (Iowa 2003)

Haskenhoff v. Homeland Energy Sols., LLC, 897 N.W.2d 553 (Iowa 2017)

Rodgers v. Western-Southern Life Ins. Co., 12 F.3d 668 (7th Cir. 1993)

Simon Seeding & Sod, Inc. v. Dubuque Human Rights Comm’n, 895 N.W.2d 446 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Watkins, 914 N.W.2d 827 (Iowa 2018)

ISSUE IV: THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON COUNT IV—WRONGFUL TERMINATION IN VIOLATION OF PUBLIC POLICY BY MAKING IMPROPER CREDIBILITY DETERMINATIONS AND BY IMPROPERLY DISREGARDING EVIDENCE RELATED TO PLAINTIFF’S TERMINATION AND SAFETY COMPLAINTS

Authorities

Bagelman v. First Nat'l Bank, 823 N.W.2d 18 (Iowa 2012)

Butler v. Hoover Nature Trail, Inc., 530 N.W.2d 85 (Iowa Ct. App.1994)

Clinkscales v. Nelson Sec., Inc., 697 N.W.2d 836 (Iowa 2005)

Crippen v. City of Cedar Rapids, 618 N.W.2d 562 (Iowa 2000)

Davis v. Horton, 661 N.W.2d 533 (Iowa 2003)

Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.981(3)

Linn v. State, 929 N.W.2d 717, 730 (Iowa 2019)

Lloyd v. Drake Univ., 686 N.W.2d 225 (Iowa 2004)

Rivera v. Woodward Res. Ctr., 865 N.W.2d 887 (Iowa 2015)

Smith v. Smithway Motor Xpress, Inc., 464 N.W.2d 682 (Iowa 1990)

Taft v. Iowa Dist. Court ex rel. Linn Cty., 828 N.W.2d 309 (Iowa 2013)

Teachout v. Forest City Cmty. Sch. Dist., 584 N.W.2d 296 (Iowa 1998)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is appropriate for transfer to the Iowa Court of Appeals because it presents the application of existing legal principles. *See* Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101 (3)(a).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant initiated this action against Swift Pork Company, Troy Mulgrew, and Todd Carl on May 29, 2018, alleging discrimination, retaliation, harassment, and wrongful termination pursuant to a public policy. (J.A. pp.18–26); (J.A. pp.31–39). Appellees answered on July 16, 2018. (J.A. pp.40–45). Defendants filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on all counts on August 14, 2020. (J.A. pp.46–47); (J.A. pp.48–80). Appellant resisted the Motion for Summary Judgment on September 15, 2020. (J.A. pp.316–317); (J.A. pp.318–357). The Court held hearing on the Motion on September 28, 2020. (J.A. pp.598–636). On October 12, 2020, the Court ruled in favor of Appellees’ Motion for Summary Judgment on all Claims. (J.A. pp.637–656 (hereinafter “Order”)). Notice of Appeal was filed on November 12, 2020. (J.A. p.1006).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Plaintiff, David Feedback, filed this action against Defendants Swift Pork Company, JBS Swift & Co., Troy Mulgrew, and Todd Carl, asserting

claims for age discrimination, retaliation, harassment, and wrongful termination. (J.A. pp.22–24).¹ Mr. Feedback began his employment with Swift Pork on April 28, 1988, as a production worker. (J.A. p.402). He worked for Swift Pork for nearly 30 years. (J.A. pp.18, 21, 405). At the time of his termination, Mr. Feedback was employed as a Cut Floor Superintendent. (J.A. p.402). Defendant Todd Carl was the Plant Manager for Swift Pork and Mr. Feedback’s immediate supervisor. (J.A. p.402). Defendant Mulgrew was the General Manager for Swift Pork. (J.A. p.402).

During Mr. Feedback’s employment at Swift Pork, he had seen multiple managers experience harassment if they remained at the company after the age of 55. (J.A. pp.403, 167, 168, 186–88, Feedback Tr. 84:10–24, 85:6–22, 103:25–105:2). Mr. Feedback has watched as dozens of employees with no prior disciplinary record began receiving repeated disciplinary infractions and negative performance reviews. (J.A. p.404). Mr. Feedback also has seen Swift Pork demote, terminate, and/or force out many older employees. None of these employees had any prior performance issues. (J.A. pp.404–05). For

¹ On September 15, 2020, Plaintiff filed a Motion for Leave to Amend Petition and Amended Petition to remove JBS Swift & Co. as a Defendant as it is currently known as Swift Pork Company. (J.A. pp. 27–28). The Court granted this motion on September 16, 2020. (J.A. pp.29–30). Then, on September 16, 2020, Plaintiff dismissed Count II of his Petition, which claimed Retaliation in violation of the ICRA. (Pl. Dismissal without Prejudice as to Count II).

example, in approximately 1996, Barry Carl was employed as the Human Resources Director when he quit because of how he was treated. (J.A. p.404). In approximately 1996 or 1997, Vern Casselman, Operations Manager, was demoted and ultimately resigned. (J.A. p.404). He was approximately 58 years old. (J.A. p.404). Mr. Casselman never had any prior performance issues and had never been written up for disciplinary issues. (J.A. p.404). In approximately 2009, Cheryl Hughlette, Human Resources Manager, was terminated; she was approximately 56 years old. (J.A. p.404). In approximately 2005 or 2006, Bernie Proczech, Head of Operations, was terminated; he was in his early 60s. (J.A. p.404). In approximately 2009 or 2010, Doug Ridout, Superintendent for Rendering, was terminated; he was approximately 62 or 63 years old. (J.A. p.404). In approximately 2001 or 2002, Bob McKernen, Maintenance Engineer, was terminated; he was approximately 63 or 64 years old (J.A. p.405). In approximately 2008, Mr. Harris, corporate Human Resources Director, was terminated; he was in his early 60s. (J.A. p.405). In approximately 1994, Charlie Freese, General Forman, was demoted; he was approximately 59 years old. (J.A. pp.404, 188–189, Feedback Tr. 105:15–106:8). In approximately 2004, Elmer Freese, General Forman, was demoted; he was approximately 62 or 63 years old. (J.A. pp.404, 189–90, Feedback Tr. 106:25–107:13). As Mr. Feedback explained in

his deposition, Elmer Freese “was demoted when he was in his—getting close to retirement.” (J.A. p.189–90, Feedback Tr. 106:25–107:13).

In total, Mr. Feedback estimates that he has seen between 15 and 20 managers with previously good employment records forced out after reaching age 56 or older. (J.A. p.405). Indeed, Swift Pork has a high management turnover rate and a low retirement rate. (J.A. p.405). In Mr. Feedback’s nearly 30 years with Swift Pork, he estimates that he has worked with hundreds of employees in supervisory and management roles. (J.A. p.405). Of those employees, Mr. Feedback can recall only five or six employees who retired with the title of manager; three or four employees who have retired with the title of supervisor, and only one employee who has retired with the title of superintendent. (J.A. p.405). Mr. Feedback himself would have been eligible to retire within two years of his termination. (J.A. p.405).

Like these prior employees, Mr. Feedback met applicable job qualifications, was qualified for the positions that he held, and he performed his job in a manner that met or exceeded expectations. (J.A. p.402). Prior to Mr. Feedback’s termination in January 2016, he had no reason to believe that there were any issues with his work performance. (J.A. p.403). Mr. Feedback never received a negative performance evaluation, and he received annual raises. (J.A. p.403). Most recently, Plaintiff received a raise of approximately

\$2,000–\$2,500 in June of 2015. (J.A. p.403). He also received a bonus in 2015. (J.A. p.125, Feedback Tr. 42:11–12).

Indeed, in deposition Defendant Carl concedes that the only performance reviews that Defendants were able to produce were positive. (J.A. pp.413, 413–14. Carl Tr. 37:17–39:24; 40:15–41:15). Defendants cited a change in the computer program that the company used to justify their inability to produce any negative performance reviews. (J.A. pp. 414, 414, Carl Tr. 41:16–22; 42:5–18).

Also, like these past employees, Mr. Feedback began to experience a campaign of harassment toward the end of his tenure at Swift Pork. (J.A. p.403). For example, Defendant Carl began engaging in obstructionist behavior and would turn minor issues into larger ones to make it seem as though Mr. Feedback was creating problems. (J.A. p.403). On more than one occasion, he told Mr. Feedback he was “asleep at the wheel” or that that cut floor was “out of control.” (J.A. p.403, 149, 153–54, Feedback Tr. 66:14–22; 70:19–71:3). Mr. Feedback brought safety concerns to Defendant Carl in 2015. (J.A. p.403, 136–41, Feedback Tr. 53:17–58:23). Defendant Carl made negative comments concerning the cost of alleviating Plaintiff’s safety concerns. (J.A. p.146 Feedback Tr. 63:18–22). After that, whenever Mr. Feedback tried to discuss safety issues with Defendant Carl, Defendant Carl

became angry. (J.A. p.403). During one phone conversation, Defendant Carl became so angry that he hung up on Plaintiff. (J.A. p.403).

Defendant Carl also tried to turn Defendant Mulgrew against Mr. Feedback by saying things that were not true. (J.A. p.403). For example, in December 2015, Mr. Feedback asked Defendant Carl if he could remain on the cut floor during a staff meeting due to lack of staff. (J.A. p.403). Defendant Carl gave Mr. Feedback permission to do so. (J.A. p.403). However, Defendant Carl did not communicate this permission to Defendant Mulgrew, causing Defendant Mulgrew to become upset when Mr. Feedback did not attend the meeting. (J.A. p.403) Mr. Feedback believes Defendant Carl deliberately chose not to tell Defendant Mulgrew that he had his permission not to attend the meeting. (J.A. p.403).

Meanwhile, in late 2015, Defendant Mulgrew directed multiple obscenity-laden comments at Mr. Feedback. On one occasion, Defendant Mulgrew entered the employee bathroom while Mr. Feedback was on break and told Mr. Feedback that “you’re in here fucking around.” (J.A. pp.405, 155, Feedback Tr. 72:1–10). On a separate occasion, Defendant Mulgrew encouraged Mr. Feedback to “fuck” a woman on a pheasant hunting trip. (J.A. pp.156–57, Feedback Tr. 73:24–74:23).

Mr. Feedback knew that Swift Pork's anti-harassment, anti-discrimination, and Open Door policies allowed him to make complaints to his supervisor, to Human Resources, or via a corporate hotline. (J.A. p.409) However, he did not use these channels to make a complaint because he knew that it would be futile. (J.A. p.409) Mr. Feedback had seen past employees terminated, harassed, isolated, demoted, or forced out after making complaints using internal company channels. (J.A. p.409). In approximately 2005, one past manager, Dean Whelden, had been demoted after making a complaint. (J.A. p.409). Plaintiff had seen other managers terminated for making complaints. (J.A. p.409). As a result, Plaintiff believed that he would lose his job if he made a complaint using these channels. (J.A. p.409). It would have been especially futile for Plaintiff to bring a complaint to his immediate supervisor because Plaintiff's immediate supervisor was Defendant Carl, one of the individuals engaging in the harassment (J.A. p.409). Even if Plaintiff were to use the corporate hotline to make a complaint, he believed that Defendants would find a way to terminate his employment or argue that his job performance had slipped. (J.A. p.409).

As a Cut Floor Superintendent, Mr. Feedback was required to make sure a certain number of safety meetings and trainings were done within his department throughout the year on an annual basis. (J.A. p.273). Early in the

second week of December, two supervisors asked Mr. Feedback for permission to hold the December 2015 safety meeting on December 31. (J.A. p.174, Feedback Tr. 91:18–24). The safety meetings usually last between 15 and 20 minutes. (J.A. pp.174–75, Feedback Tr. 91:25–92:4). New Year’s Eve day is not a holiday under the company’s collective bargaining agreement. (J.A. p.176, Feedback Tr. 93:3–8).

Defendant Mulgrew learned about the meeting and sent the supervisors at the meeting home. (J.A. pp.175, 175, 175, Feedback Tr. 92:5–8; 92:16–21; 92:22–23). Defendant Mulgrew then called Mr. Feedback and Defendant Carl into his office. (J.A. pp.174–75, 176, Feedback Tr. 91:18–92:23; 93:9–14). During that meeting, Defendant Mulgrew criticized the absenteeism rate in Mr. Feedback’s department. (J.A. pp.176–77, Feedback Tr. 93:19–94:3). Following Mr. Mulgrew’s criticisms, Mr. Feedback defended himself by noting that the turnover rate in his department is between 10 and 11 percent while some departments had turnover rates of 30 to 40 percent. (J.A. pp.176–77, Feedback Tr. 93:23–94:2). Defendant Mulgrew responded to Mr. Feedback’s attempt to defend his performance by telling Mr. Feedback that he should be sitting there with his mouth shut and his arms open. (J.A. p.177, Feedback Tr. 94:2–6). Defendant Mulgrew said that another employee had told him that Mr. Feedback “told him that he was the worst supervisor [Plaintiff] had.” (J.A.

p.177, Feedback Tr. 94:7–12). Mr. Feedback, however, did not have a meaningful opportunity to respond to Defendant Mulgrew’s statement because Defendant’s comments to Plaintiff about keeping his “mouth shut” created an environment in which Defendant felt that he could not speak. (J.A. p.177, Feedback Tr. 94:7–15). Mr. Feedback was taken aback at Defendant Mulgrew’s statements, behavior, and overall demeanor. (J.A. p.178, Feedback Tr. 95:8–11). As a result, he did not say anything when the meeting was over. (J.A. pp.178–79, Feedback Tr. 95:22–96:1).

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