IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

No. 20-1467

DAVID ALAN FEEBACK,
Plaintiff-Appellant

v.

SWIFT PORK COMPANY, TROY MULGREW, and TODD CARL,
Defendants-Appellees

**On Appeal from the District Court of Marshall County, Iowa
Case No. LACL009957**

Honorable Bethany Currie

APPELLEES' FINAL BRIEF

Prepared and Submitted by:

Aaron A. Clark (IA Bar # AT0012098)
Ruth A. Horvatic (IA Bar # AT0010948)
McGrath North PC LLO
Suite 3700 First National Tower
1601 Dodge Street
Omaha, Nebraska 68102
(402) 341-3070 (Phone)
(402) 341-0216 (Fax)
aclark@mcgrathnorth.com
rhorvatic@mcgrathnorth.com

ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANTS-APPELLEES

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

ARGUMENT

The District Court correctly held that the Defendants-Appellees were entitled to summary judgment on Feedback’s claims of discrimination, harassment, and wrongful termination. The facts and legal principles of this case are straightforward. Feedback was terminated from his employment with Swift Pork after an egregious display of disrespect toward his superior when

he sent a text message to his superior telling him “FUCK you !” The evidence shows that the District Court correctly found that Feedback was terminated for a legitimate, non-discriminatory reason and Feedback cannot prove that age played any role in the decision to terminate his employment. Feedback’s harassment claim also fails because he cannot show that any alleged harassment was based on his age or that the alleged harassment was sufficiently severe or pervasive to amount to actionable harassment. Even if Feedback could satisfy these elements, Defendants are entitled to the *Faragher-Ellerth* affirmative defense. Feedback’s wrongful termination claim also fails because Feedback cannot show his alleged complaints were the determining factor for his termination, and Swift Pork undoubtedly had an overriding business justification to terminate Feedback. Accordingly, the District Court correctly found that Feedback’s claims failed as a matter of law.

I. The District Court Correctly Concluded that Feedback’s Age Discrimination Claim Fails as a Matter of Law.

A. The District Court Properly Applied the Correct Causation Standard in its Analysis of Feedback’s Age Discrimination Claim.

The District Court analyzed Feedback’s age discrimination claim under the ICRA utilizing the *McDonnell Douglas* burden-shifting analysis because Feedback failed to offer direct evidence of discrimination. (Summary Judgment Order). This is the correct analysis as it applies to summary

judgment under applicable Iowa law. *See Hedlund v. State*, 930 N.W.2d 707, 719 n.8 (Iowa 2019) (unequivocally stating although the analysis has been changed for purposes of trial, the Court “did not disturb [its] prior law as it applies to summary judgment.”).

In his brief, Feedback argues that the Iowa Supreme Court has abandoned the *McDonnell Douglas* burden-shifting analysis for ICRA discrimination claims as it applies to summary judgment. This is incorrect. While the Iowa Supreme Court has determined that it will no longer rely on the *McDonnell Douglas* burden-shifting analysis and determining-factor standard when instructing the jury, *see Hawkins v. Grinnell Reg. Med. Ctr.*, 929 N.W.2d 261, 272 (Iowa 2019), the Court has explicitly stated that this analysis has not been disturbed as it applies to summary judgment. *Hedlund*, 930 N.W.2d at 719 n.8. Indeed, in *Hedlund*, the Iowa Supreme Court affirmed the District Court’s determination utilizing the *McDonnell Douglas* burden-shifting framework and finding that the plaintiff in that case “failed to present sufficient evidence from which a reasonable jury could infer that defendants’ legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for termination was pretextual and that age discrimination was the real reason for his termination.” *Id.* at 720-23.

The Eighth Circuit has specifically recognized that the *McDonnell Douglas* analysis still applies for purposes of summary judgment under the

ICRA. In *Couch v. American Bottling Company*, the Eighth Circuit recognized that while Iowa courts no longer use *McDonnell Douglas* at trial in mixed-motive cases, the Iowa Supreme Court has clarified that its prior law on summary judgment has not been disturbed. 955 F.3d 1106, 1110 (8th Cir. 2020) (citing *Hedlund*, 930 N.W.2d at 719 n.8). In this regard, the Eighth Circuit further stated “[w]e trust that the Iowa Supreme Court meant what it said.” *Couch*, 955 F.3d at 1110.

Iowa federal district courts have also continued to rely upon the *McDonnell Douglas* analysis for ICRA claims. *See, e.g., Montgomery v. General Atomics Int’l. Servs. Corp.*, No. 3:18-cv-90-JAJ-SBJ, 2019 WL 6771753, at *8 (S.D. Iowa Nov. 27, 2019) (finding defendant employer was entitled to summary judgment on age discrimination claim under the ICRA pursuant to the *McDonnell Douglas* burden-shifting framework); *Brandes v. City of Waterloo, Iowa*, No. 18-CV-2089-KEM, 2020 WL 4209055, at *17 (N.D. Iowa July 22, 2020) (finding defendant employer was entitled to summary judgment as the plaintiff could not establish an age discrimination claim under the ICRA pursuant to the *McDonnell Douglas* burden-shifting framework); *Gearhart v. Mediacom Communications Corp.*, No. 19-CV-56-LRR, 2020 WL 4728817, at *8 (N.D. Iowa Aug. 13, 2020) (finding defendant employer was entitled to summary judgment on claims of sexual orientation

discrimination under the ICRA utilizing the *McDonnell Douglas* burden-shifting framework).

The Iowa Court of Appeals has also recognized that the *McDonnell Douglas* framework should be analyzed when determining a motion for summary judgment. See *Randall v. Roquette Am. Inc.*, No. 19-2111, 2021 WL 210951, at *4 (Iowa Ct. App. Jan. 21, 2021) (describing the *McDonnell Douglas* standard for determining motion for summary judgment on discrimination claim under the ICRA); *Deters v. Int’l. Union, Security, Police and Fire Professionals of Am., Local Union #249*, No. 20-0262, 2020 WL 6157816, at *3 n.4 (Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 21, 2020) (“When plaintiffs rely on indirect evidence of discriminatory motive, they invoke the burden-shifting framework from *McDonnell Douglas*”); *Watkins v. City of Des Moines*, No. 19-1511, 2020 WL 2988546, at *4 (Iowa Ct. App. June 3, 2020) (analyzing claim of race discrimination under the ICRA pursuant to the *McDonnell Douglas* burden-shifting framework).

Notwithstanding, as explained thoroughly below, regardless of the applicable standard, the record supports the District Court’s decision that Defendants are entitled to summary judgment on Feedback’s age discrimination claim under both standards. See *Hedlund*, 930 N.W.2d at 720 (analyzing summary judgment under both standards); *Watkins*, 2020 WL

2988546, at *4 (analyzing summary judgment under both standards). It is undisputed that Feedback has no direct evidence of discrimination. Under the *McDonnell Douglas* burden-shifting standard, the admissible evidence in the record shows there is not sufficient evidence from which a reasonable jury could infer that Defendants' legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for Feedback's termination was pretextual and that age discrimination was the real reason for his termination. There is also insufficient evidence for Feedback to withstand summary judgment outside of the *McDonnell Douglas* framework as there is no evidence to show that Feedback's age was a motivating factor in his termination.

B. The District Court Correctly Determined that Feedback's Age Discrimination Claim Fails as a Matter of Law Under the *McDonnell Douglas* Burden-Shifting Framework.

The District Court correctly determined that Feedback's age discrimination claim fails as a matter of law because Feedback was terminated for a legitimate, non-discriminatory reason, and there is no evidence of pretext to suggest that he was fired for any reason relating to his age. Feedback was terminated for sending a text message to his superior, stating "FUCK you !"

It is difficult to imagine a more egregious display of disrespect toward a superior. For the reasons explained below, the District Court properly determined that Feedback's age discrimination claim fails as a matter of law.

The ICRA prohibits employers from discharging any employee because of age. Iowa Code § 216.6(1)(a) “The legislature’s purpose in banning employment discrimination based on [age] was to prohibit conduct which, had the victim [not been a member of the protected class,] would not have otherwise occurred.” *Wyngharden v. State Judicial Branch*, No. 13-0863, 2014 WL 4230192, at *8 (Iowa Ct. App. Aug. 27, 2014) (citing *Deboom v. Raining Rose, Inc.*, 772 N.W.2d 1, 6 (Iowa 2009)) (alteration in original). Here, Feedback would have been terminated regardless of his age based upon his misconduct.

It is uncontested that there is no direct evidence of discriminatory intent on the part of Defendants in this matter. Accordingly, in order for Feedback to establish his age discrimination claim, he must do so under the *McDonnell Douglas* burden-shifting framework. *Hedlund*, 930 N.W.2d at 719. “Under the familiar *McDonnell Douglas* burden-shifting framework, [the employee] must carry the initial burden of establishing a prima facie case of age discrimination.” *Id.* at 719. In order to prove a prima facie case, Feedback must establish that (1) he is a member of a protected class; (2) he performed his work satisfactorily; and (3) he had an adverse employment action taken against him. *Vaughan v. Must, Inc.*, 542 N.W.2d 533, 538 (Iowa 1996).

Assuming Feedback can establish a prima facie case, the burden then shifts to Defendants to articulate a legitimate, non-discriminatory reason for the adverse employment action. *Hedlund*, 930 N.W.2d at 720. Thereafter, the burden shifts back to Feedback to prove that “the proffered reason is a mere pretext for age discrimination.” *Id.* Importantly, Feedback at all times retains the ultimate burden to prove that unlawful discrimination was the real reason for his termination. *Id.* Stated otherwise, Feedback must prove that his age “was the real reason for the termination.” *Id.* (quoting *DeBoom*, 772 N.W.2d at 6-7).

i. Feedback was Terminated for a Legitimate, Non-Discriminatory Reason.

Assuming Feedback could establish his prima facie case, the evidence shows that Feedback was undoubtedly terminated for a legitimate, non-discriminatory reason. As set forth above, on the evening of December 31, 2015, Feedback sent an inappropriate and disrespectful text message to his superior, Troy Mulgrew. Specifically, the text message stated, “FUCK You ! Believe who and what you want.” (App. pgs. 179-180; Feedback Depo. 96:22-97:1). Feedback fully admits that he sent this text message to Mulgrew and did not rescind the message. (*Id.*). Feedback sent this text message to Mulgrew after their interaction that occurred earlier that day with regard to Feedback allowing employees’ training meetings to be held on the New Year’s Eve

holiday. Upon receiving this text, Mulgrew fully believed that Feedback intended to send him that message in reference to the issue relating to the training meetings. (App. p. 274). Upon receipt, Mulgrew sent a screenshot of the inappropriate and disrespectful text message to Feedback's direct supervisor, Todd Carl, as well as to Peter Charboneau, Human Resources Director. (*Id.*). Early the next morning, Charboneau suspended Feedback. (App. pgs. 181-182; Feedback Depo. 98:14-99:19). Shortly thereafter, Charboneau made the decision to terminate Feedback's employment based upon his egregious display of disrespect toward a member of management. (App. p. 280).

Feedback texting his superior "FUCK You !" certainly constitutes a legitimate, non-discriminatory reason for termination. *See Hedlund*, 930 N.W.2d at 720 (granting summary judgment and holding that "negative and disrespectful" messages about Company's leadership team constitutes a legitimate, non-discriminatory reason for termination); *Grutz v. U.S. Bank Nat'l Ass'n*, 695 N.W.2d 505, *2, 2005 WL 291592 (Iowa Ct. App. Feb. 9, 2005) (granting summary judgment and holding that employee's "open display of disrespect" toward management constitutes a legitimate, non-discriminatory reason for termination). Accordingly,

Defendants have met their burden to articulate a legitimate, non-discriminatory reason Feedback's termination.

ii. Feedback Cannot Prove Defendants' Legitimate Reason Pretext for Age Discrimination.

The District Court correctly determined that there is insufficient evidence that Defendants' legitimate reason for termination is a pretext for age discrimination. In order to prove pretext, Feedback must prove that he was not actually terminated for texting "FUCK You !" to his superior but, rather, that his termination was, in fact, motivated by his protected class, i.e. his age. *Merrit v. Iowa Dept. of Transp.*, 2004 WL 434143, at *3 (Iowa Ct. App. 2004) ("A plaintiff must show not merely that the defendant's employment decisions were mistaken but that they were in fact motivated by [the protected class]."); *Grutz*, 2005 WL 291592, at *3 ("[T]he plaintiff's age must have 'actually played a role in [the employer's decision making] process and had a determinative influence on the outcome.'") (quoting *Reeves v. Sanderson Plumbing Prod., Inc.*, 530 U.S. 133, 141, 120 S. Ct. 2097, 2105, 147 L.Ed.2d 105, 116 (2000)).

Feedback's primary argument with regard to pretext appears to be that he was allegedly treated differently than younger employees who were not

terminated for swearing in the workplace.¹ This argument is unavailing for several reasons, and the evidence is plainly insufficient to establish pretext. First, Feedback must prove that comparator employees are “similarly-situated.” *E.E.O.C. v. Prod. Fabricators, Inc.*, 763 F.3d 963, 970 (8th Cir. 2014). “Whether the employees are ‘similarly situated’ is a rigorous test because the employees used for comparison must be ‘similarly situated in all relevant aspects.’” *Id.* (quoting *Evance v. Trumann Health Servs., LLC*, 719 F.3d 673, 678 (8th Cir. 2013)). Specifically, the comparators “‘must have dealt with the same supervisor, have been subject to the same standards and engaged in the same conduct without any mitigating or distinguishing circumstances.’” *Id.* (quoting *Evance*, 719 F.3d at 678). Importantly, it is Feedback’s burden to prove the other employees were similarly situated. *Wyngharden v. State*, No. 16-1945, 2018 WL 3471849, at *8 (Iowa Ct. App. July 18, 2018) (“[Plaintiff] had the burden to prove the other employees were similarly situated.”); *see also Philip v. Ford Motor Corp.*, 413 F.3d 766, 768 (8th Cir. 2005) (stating that the plaintiff “bears the burden to proffer specific, tangible evidence that

¹ As argued to the District Court, this evidence submitted by Feedback is inadmissible on numerous grounds and, as such, should not have been considered by the District Court on summary judgment. However, even considering this evidence, the District Court correctly found insufficient evidence of pretext.

employees who were similarly situated in all aspects to him received different treatment”).

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